

UNITED NATIONS
General Assembly
FORTY-FIFTH SESSION
Official Records

FIRST COMMITTEE
49th meeting
held on
Thursday, 29 November 1990
at 3 p.m.
New York

VERBATIM RECORD OF THE 49th MEETING

Chairman:

Mr. Rana

(Nepal)

CONTENTS

General debate, consideration of and action on draft resolutions on international security agenda items (**continued**)

Report of the Economic and Social Council (chapter III, section D)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records Editing Section, Room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

Distr. GENERAL
A/C.1/45/PV.49
10 December 1990
ENGLISH

90-63310 3584V (E)

229

The meeting was called to order at 3.30 p.m.

AGENDA ITEMS 68, 69, 70 AND 12 (continued)

GENERAL DEBATE, CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON DRAFT RESOLUTIONS ON INTERNATIONAL SECURITY AGENDA ITEMS

REPORT OF THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL (chapter III, section D)

The CHAIRMAN: This afternoon, the Committee will take action on draft resolutions • ◆◊○✕◆◆○◊ unbar agenda items 68, 69 and 70, namely draft resolutions A/C.1/45/L.65, L.66 and L.67.

I call first on the representative of Malta to introduce draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.65.

It is ORG (Honour for my delegation to submit for the consideration of this Committee the draft resolution contained in document A/C.1/45/L.65, relating to agenda item 68, entitled "Strengthening of security and co-operation in the Mediterranean region". I do this on behalf of the delegations of Albania, Algeria, Cyprus, Egypt, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Morocco, Tunisia, Yugoslavia and Malta.

The debate in the past few days has affirmed and acknowledged both the remarkable achievements made in international security and concerns over the tensions still prevailing in certain regions of the world. A number of delegations have highlighted the impact those achievements, particularly those in Europe, could have on the security needs of the Mediterranean region and on the task of promoting peace, security and co-operation in that region.

The draft resolution I have the honour to introduce today tries to reflect the new and positive trend • merging in Europe and the way in which that trend affects the collective security of Europe and the Mediterranean, two neighbouring regions that are linked by political, • economic, social and environmental affinities.

This year we have witnessed many positive activities at a very high level aimed at furthering the development of the Euro-Mediterranean dimension in

(Mr. Borg, Malta)

general. The process of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe **(CSCE)** has given the Mediterranean countries hope in their search for and efforts towards lasting solutions to the endemic problems still besetting the region.

Indeed, a flurry of important activities has focused on the Mediterranean, starting with the **83rd** Inter-Parliamentary Conference, held at Nicosia from 2 to **7** April 1990, and followed by the Third Ministerial Conference of the Mediterranean Non-Aligned Countries, held in Algiers on 25 **and** 26 June 1990; the First Meeting of Ministers of Foreign Affairs of the 10 countries of the Western Mediterranean, held in Rome on 10 October 1990; the Meeting on the Mediterranean of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe, held in **Palma** de Wallorca from 24 September to 19 October 1990; the Meeting of the Ministers of Foreign Affairs of the Balkan States, held in **Tirana** in October 1990; and the meetings of the Arab Waghreb Union.

The first follow-up gathering to those meetings will be a meeting to be held during December between representatives of the non-aligned **Mediterranean** countries, namely Algeria, Egypt, **Malta** and Yugoslavia, and representatives of European **Community** countries, namely Italy, France, Spain and Portugal, with the aim of finding ways to build on the agreements reached during the past year.

As in previous years, the non-aligned Mediterranean countries have held intensive consultations with a view to submitting a draft text that would command the overall support of the Committee. The product of those consultations is contained in document **A/C.1/45/L.65**.

According to the draft resolution the General Assembly would recognise the evolving international situation, particularly in Europe, and express the fervent wish of the Mediterranean States to work in **unison** towards the enhancement of security and co-operation in the region. In that regard, it would reaffirm the primary role of the Mediterranean countries, the **efforts** they have carried out **in**

(Mr. Borg, Malta)

intensifying the process of dialogue and consultation, and their desire that the needs of the region be taken into account in ongoing and future negotiations relating to international security and disarmament.

The General Assembly would also recognise the indivisible character of security in the Mediterranean and the need to ensure that all actions are aimed towards the promotion of peace, security and co-operation in the region. It would also note with satisfaction the greater awareness in Europe of the need for interdependent action in the Mediterranean with the aim of contributing towards reducing tension, improving good-neighbourly relations and fostering political, cultural and economic progress in the region.

In the operative part of the draft resolution the General Assembly would reaffirm that security in the Mediterranean is closely linked to European security as well as to international peace and security. It would welcome the determination expressed by Mediterranean countries to intensify their efforts to promote dialogue and co-operation in the region to achieve, through peaceful settlement, just and lasting solutions to those crises which still threaten regional peace and stability, thus ensuring the withdrawal of foreign forces of occupation and the right of peoples under colonial or foreign domination to self-determination and independence, in accordance with the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations.

Paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 7 of the draft resolution deal with the meetings held earlier this year in Algeria, Palma de Mallorca, Nicosia, Rome and Tirana, as well as with the ongoing process in the CSCE and in the Arab Maghreb Union, which has been considering security in the Mediterranean in all its aspects.

In paragraph 6, the General Assembly would take note of the support among Mediterranean countries for the proposal to convene a conference on security and

(Mr. Borq, Malta)

co-operation in the Mediterranean and of their willingness to open regional consultations with a view to creating the appropriate conditions for the initiation of such a process.

The just and peaceful settlement of persistent problems in the region, the **intensification** of existing forms of co-operation in various fields and the **elimination of** the economic and social disparities in levels **of** development are all **actions which** need to be emphasised, urged and encouraged in the Mediterranean region. **Such** actions, contemplated in paragraphs 8, 9 and **10**, would contribute **significantly** to the reduction **of** tension, promote peace and security, and ensure **stability**, prosperity and **s^upport** for democratic processes, economic reforms and development in the countries of the Mediterranean region in accordance with the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations.

In paragraphs 11, 12 and 13, follow-up action is envisaged on the implementation of **the** draft resolution.

On behalf of the sponsors **I** should like to stress the critical importance of having all Members of the United Nations work collectively to bring to fruition the measures indicated in the draft resolution.

(Mr. Borg, Malta)

Before concluding, let me **express** my **delegation's thanks and appreciation** to **all the delegation8 that contributed constructively** to the informal negotiation8 on the draft resolution, making it possible to bridge differences on crucial **aspects** of the **proposal**. In that respect we are particularly **grateful to all the sponsors** and to the **representative of Italy, who acted on behalf of the European Community**,

In **submitting the draft resolution for the Committee's consideration**, the sponsors **express** the wish that it be adopted without a vote.

~~Mr. Y. KAPAMINE~~ **g (Zambia)**n wishes to state its views on draft reeolution A/C.1/45/L.66. My delegation had been attempting to hold last-minute **consultations with the sponsors of the draft reeolution with a view to ensuring** that **some of its concerns were taken into account in the text. Unfortunately,** perhaps owing to the tyranny of time, it appear8 difficult at present for all the **sponsors of the draft reeolution to agree to incorporate my delegation's concerns.**

In particular, my delegation has problem8 with the fifth preambular paragraph. My delegation would feel much more **comfortable** if the words "**Expressing its satisfaction at**" were replaced by the word "Welcoming". **As much as we welcome the wide-ranging dialogue between the two super-Powers, there are certain concerns of particular importance to my delegation that we do not think have been given very much attention in that dialogue, The question of Angola, the question of Palestine and the question of Central America are but a few of the very important issues we do not think have occupied a priority place in the discussions between the two super-Powers.**

My delegation also ha8 problems with ~~the~~ sixth preambular paragraph. My delegation hopes the **sponsors of the draft resolution will accept the following amendment, by which this paragraph would read as follows:**

(Mr. Kapambwe, Zambia)

"Expressing the hope that the positive trends in Europe, where a new system of security and co-operation is being built through the process of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe (**CSCE**), can encourage similar trends in other parts of the world".

My delegation feels that the last phrase in the present text, "should be extended to encompass all parts of the world". is somewhat too strong and could be interpreted to mean that the **CSCE** process is being imposed on all parts of the **world.**

My delegation also has problems with operative paragraph **7**, in particular with the phrase "Welcomes the renewed effectiveness of the Security Council". We believe that, although the Security Council has become very active in the question of the **Gulf** crisis, it would be premature at this time for us to say that the Security Council had been effective in resolving the situation in the Gulf. **That** situation continues, and we believe the Security Council should, with similar activity, discuss other questions that have been placed before it. We do not think **such** discussion has yet taken place in the Security Council - not, at least, with **the** effectiveness of the discussion of the Gulf crisis. **My** delegation wanted to propose a revised text of this paragraph, and made this known to the sponsors **of** the draft resolution, but since, as I said, the consultations were unfortunately not exhaustive, it was not possible for us to be consulted at an early stage and hence to provide **our** input with respect to the draft resolution.

The last concern of my delegation relates to the matter of **apartheid**, which is addressed in the **preambular** part of the draft resolution but not in the operative part, **My** delegation would have felt much more comfortable with an additional operative paragraph calling upon the United Nations to implement the Declaration on **South** Africa adopted by the General Assembly at **its** sixteenth special session.

Mr. DZVAIRO (Zimbabwe): My delegation too regrets to have to express its concern *regarding* draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66. It is unfortunate that consultations on the text of this draft resolution, whose broad thrust we fully support, were not exhaustive *and* that therefore our positions are not adequately reflected *in* the draft text which is before the Committee and on which we are about to *take* action.

The concerns of my delegation relate to the paragraphs just referred to by our colleague from Zambia. The fifth preambular paragraph leaves us very uncomfortable, largely because the language does not adequately reflect the dismay, which my delegation shares, at the failure of the two super-Powers to address with the *same effectiveness* noted with respect to certain issues many other issues over which they hold sway and which *are* of great concern to us *and to* other members of the international community. Examples are the question of Angola, the conflict in the Middle East and the question of Central America. We feel *that* the language of the fifth preambular paragraph should have indicated that a lot more progress remains to be made in the bilateral negotiations.

The second issue that concerns my delegation is the language of the sixth preambular paragraph, which again leaves us uncomfortable. Although we welcome the success of the process of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe (CSCE), the way it is reflected in this paragraph leaves the distinct impression that it is a process to be imposed on other regions. Our belief is that this matter should be *addressed on* a regional basis, with *different* solutions for other regions, as the need arises. Had we been able to discuss this, we *might* have been able to put it in a different way.

(Mr. Dzvairo, Zimbabwe)

Thirdly, we are concerned about operative paragraph 7. We feel that more **care** could have been taken in the formulation **of** that paragraph, particularly in view of the **long-standing** issues that have been before the Security Council for many years and on which there has been no progress. We would have encouraged the active involvement of the Security Council in the current attempt to resolve the situation in the Gulf, where there has been much **more** activity, and would have hoped that the same vigour could **have** been applied to dealing with such long-standing issues **as** the situation in South Africa, in Central America and in the Middle East.

Lastly, **we** are very **p'leased** that there is a preambular paragraph in which it is strongly emphasised that **apartheid** is a particular and repugnant form of institutionalised racism, which civilised nations have rightly condemned **as a crime** against humanity. We are dismayed to find **that** there is no corresponding operative paragraph calling for the implementation of the Declaration on **Apartheid** and its Destructive Consequences in Southern Africa adopted by consensus last December. I **regret** to say that, in view **of the** unsatisfactory nature of that particular paragraph, we shall be compelled to abstain in the voting on **this** draft resolution.

Mrs. MULAMULA (United Republic of **Tanzania**): In the interest of saving **the** Committee's **time**, knowing that most **of** our attention is at the moment in the Security Council **Chamber**, I should like to associate my **delegation** fully with the **remarks** and concerns **expressed** by the delegations of Zambia and Zimbabwe. **They** **have** raised particular concerns with regard to paragraphs in draft **resolution A/C.1/45/L.66** that are in line with, and similar to, the concerns my delegation **pointed** out to **the sponsors**.

Having said that, just for **the** record my delegation wanted to express its concern **with** regard to the manner in which consultation⁸ **on** the draft resolutions

(Mrs. Mulamula, United
Republic of Tanzania)

have been conducted, confined as they were to the few so-called interested delegations who knew that there are many new elements in the text but who left many of us out of it. We are now presented with a "take-it-or-leave-it" text, and I am sorry that we were not allowed time to have thorough consultations on it. I believe that most of the sponsors could have lived with the amendments that we were seeking to include in the text in the interest of improving it and of keeping up with the mood of the times.

Mr. AMBEYI-LJBAGO (Kenya): While it was not my wish to speak at this late hour, I want to associate myself with the sentiments expressed by the delegations of Zambia, Zimbabwe and the United Republic of Tanzania.

Kenya has very strong reservation with regard to the fifth and sixth preambular paragraphs and to operative paragraph 7 of draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66. While my delegation appreciates the positive event which started in Europe with regard to the process of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe, I too feel, and my delegation feels, that the draft resolution we are considering has not taken account of some other issues in other parts of the world.

Together with some other African delegations, my delegation submitted certain proposals for amendments to the sponsors of draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66, but, for reasons best known to the sponsors, our amendments were not taken into consideration.

My delegation, along with some other African delegations, has always listened to and heeded calls from other delegations, and we normally take into consideration proposals made by other delegations when our African draft resolutions are

(Mr. Ambeyi-Libago, Kenya)

submitted to the Committee. We are surprised that the **sponsors** of draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66** were not prepared to budge even an inch to **take** account of our proposals.

The question of **apartheid** in South Africa is a very sensitive issue - at the moment probably one of the greatest and most institutionalised crimes in **the** world today. Since that basic and fundamental issue has not been taken into serious consideration in draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66**, in spite of **the** proposals of a number of African delegations, the delegation of Kenya will be **compelled** to abstain in **the** voting on **the** draft resolution.

The CHAIRMAN: There are no delegations wishing to speak in explanation of their position before a decision is taken on draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.65**, **submitted** under agenda item 68. **The** Committee will therefore now **proceed** to take a decision on **the** draft resolution, "Strengthening of security and co-operation in **the** Mediterranean **region**". The draft resolution was introduced by **the** representative of Malta at the **Committee's** 49th meeting, on **29** November **1990**.

I call upon the Secretary of **the** **Committee** to read the list of sponsors.

Mr. KHERADI (Secretary of the Committee): The sponsors of draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.65** are: Albania, Algeria, Cyprus, **Egypt**, the Libyan **Arab** **Jamahiriya**, Malta, Morocco, Tunisia and Yugoslavia.

The CHAIRMANs of draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.65** have **expressed** the hope that **the** Committee would adopt the draft resolution without a **vote**. May I take it that **the** Committee wishes to act accordingly?

Draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.65 was adopted.

The CHAIRMAN: I understand that consultations are still under way with regard to draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66. With the Committee's permission, therefore, I should like to proceed to consider draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.67, under agenda item 70.

The Committee will now proceed to take a decision on draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.67, "Implementation of the Declaration on the Preparation of Societies for Life in Peace". The draft resolution was introduced by the representative of Poland at the 46th meeting of the First Committee, on 25 November 1990.

There are no delegations wishing to explain their positions on the draft resolution before action is taken on it. I shall therefore call upon the Secretary of the Committee to announce the sponsors of the draft resolution,

Mr. KHERADI (Secretary of the Committee): Draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.67 is sponsored by Poland,

The CHAIRMAN: The sponsor of draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.67 has expressed the hope that it will be adopted by the Committee without a vote. May I take it that the Committee wishes to act accordingly?

Draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.67 is adopted.

The CHAIRMAN: As I informed the Committee earlier, consultations are still going on with regard to draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66. The sponsors have now asked if they might have a little more time to complete the consultation process. With the Committee's permission, I shall therefore suspend the meeting for 20 minutes.

The meeting was suspended at 4 p.m. and resumed at 4.45 p.m.

The CHAIRMAN: Before the Committee proceeds to take a decision on draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66**, I call on the representative of Yugoslavia, a sponsor of the draft resolution, who wishes to make a statement.

Mr. KOTEVSKI (Yugoslavia): I should like at the outset to thank you, Sir, and all the members of the First Committee for giving the sponsors of draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66** some additional time for consultations.

I should like to inform the Committee that we have successfully accomplished our consultations with the delegations that have expressed concern regarding some wording in certain paragraphs, and I should like now to read out the amendments that the sponsors are proposing to draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66**.

(Mr. Kotevski, Yugoslavia)

The first change is in the fifth proambular paragraph, in which "Expressing its satisfaction at" is changed to "Welcoming".

The next change is in the sixth prambular paragraph, which will now read "Expressing the hope" instead of "Expressing its conviction". The words "should be extended to encompass all parts of the world" are replaced by "will continue and will encourage similar trends in other parts of the world".

We have agreed to delete the twelfth preambular paragraph, which deals with the question of environment, and to replace it with wording from operative paragraph 11. Thus, the new twelfth preambular paragraph will read: "Considering that the protection of the environment has emerged" and so on. The rest of the wording remains the same. Of course, in that case there will be no need for operative paragraph 11, so it will not appear in the operative part of the draft resolution,

The next change is in operative paragraph 7, dealing with the Security Council. The new version of that paragraph will read:

"Welcomes the active involvement of the Security Council, in pursuance of its primary responsibility in the maintenance of international peace and security, and expresses the hope that it will continue in this spirit to address all the other threats to international peace and security with which it has been seized;".

Finally, the sponsors would like to introduce a new operative paragraph, which will come immediately after the present operative paragraph 13 and will read:

"Reaffirms responsibility of the United Nations on the question of dismantling of apartheid and calls for full implementation of the Declaration of the sixteenth special session of the General Assembly on apartheid and its destructive consequences in southern Africa;".

(Mr. Kotevski, Yugoslavia)

Those are the changes that the sponsors, after consultations with which you, Sir, were kind enough to provide us, would like to propose. We sincerely hope that the **Committee** will now be able to take action on the draft resolution as amended.

The CHAIRMAN: The oral amendment proposed by **the** representative of Yugoslavia on behalf of the sponsors of draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66** will accordingly be reflected in the text.

Mr. LENZI (Italy): In consideration of the extent of the amendments which have been announced to draft resolution **A/C.1/45/L.66**, the Italian delegation would be grateful, on behalf also of **some** of the 12 **members** of the European Community, if a further brief suspension were **allowed** us to consider them.

The CHAIRMAN: In view of the consultations that may be needed, with the permission of the Committee I should like to suspend the meeting for 15 minutes.

The meeting was suspended at 4.55 p.m. and resumed at 5.40 p.m.

The CHAIRMAN: I have been approached by several delegations, which have requested a little more time for consultations on draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66 as revised. There was a delay in resuming the meeting, as I was checking with conference services to determine if the Committee could possibly meet tomorrow. I have been informed that if we meet punctually at 10 a.m., it might be possible to do so. However, problems would arise should there be further delays. All the other Committees are entering the voting stage and there are only two conference rooms available with voting facilities. Therefore, I would request that we meet here tomorrow, on time, so that we can complete our work.

There has been a request to have the oral amendments to draft resolution A/C.1/45/L.66 read out at dictation speed, with interpretation, so that delegations can take note of them. The amended document will be available tomorrow morning. In order to facilitate members' consultations in the meantime, I should like to request the Secretary of the Committee to read out at dictation speed the oral amendments proposed by the representative of Yugoslavia.

Mr. KHERADI (Secretary of the Committee) : The oral revisions proposed by the representative of Yugoslavia were, I believe, as follows:

In the fifth preambular paragraph, which is the first preambular paragraph at the top of page 2, the words "Expressing its satisfaction at" should be replaced with "Welcoming". The paragraph would thus read: "Welcoming the wide-ranging dialogue", and so forth, as it then appears until the end of the paragraph)

In the next paragraph, that is, the sixth preambular paragraph, the word "its conviction" should be replaced with "the hope". The paragraph would thus begin: "Expressing the hope that the positive trends which started in Europe, where a new system of security and co-operation is being built through the process of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe". The word "should be extended

(Mr. Kheradi)

to encompass all" should be replaced with: "will continue and will encourage similar trends in other", followed by the rest of the sentence, "parts of the world". The paragraph would thus read: "Expressing the hope that the positive trends which started in Europe, where a new system of security and co-operation is being built through the process of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe, will continue and will encourage similar trends in other parts of the world".

The twelfth preambular paragraph should be deleted and replaced, mutatis mutandis, with the wording in the earlier operative paragraph 11. The twelfth preambular paragraph, as revised, would thus read: "Considering that the protection of the environment has emerged as a major global concern, dramatically emphasising the growing interdependence of the world, which calls for urgent co-operative measures ensuring sustainable and environmentally sound development". The wording is exactly the same as in operative paragraph 11, with just the change of the word "Considers" to "Considering":

In operative paragraph 7, the words "renewed effectiveness" should be replaced with "active involvement" and the word "principal" replaced with "primary". At the end of the paragraph, the word "trend" should be deleted, and the following words added: "spirit to address all the other threats to international peace and security with which it has been seized".

(Mr. Kheradi)

Operative paragraph 7, as revised, should thus read:

"Welcomes the active **involvement** of the Security Council, in pursuance of its primary responsibility in the maintenance of international peace and security, and expresses the hope that it will continue in this spirit to address all the other threats to international peace and security with which it has been seized".

Turning to page 4, operative paragraph 11 has been deleted, as I stated earlier. The old operative paragraph 12 would thus become operative paragraph **11**; the old operative paragraph 13 would thus become operative paragraph 12 and a new operative paragraph 13 would be added, which reads as follows:

"Reaffirms the responsibility of the United Nations on the question of dismantling of apartheid and calls for full implementation of the Declaration of the sixteenth special session of the General Assembly **on Apartheid** and its Destructive Consequences in Southern Africa".

The CHAIRMAN: I trust that delegations have been able to note the amendments as proposed by the representative of Yugoslavia.

I now **call** on the representative of Turkey, who wishes to speak **in exercise of** the right of reply.

Mr. ALPMAN (Turkey): This morning, the representative of the Greek Cypriots made **a statement**, which contained the usual distortions and unfounded assertions. The First Committee is **a** serious forum and should be spared -

The CHAIRMAN: I call on the representative **of** Cyprus, who wishes to speak **on** a point of order.

Mr. KAKOURIS (Cyprus): I was hoping not to have to speak on a point of order, but I am afraid that the fact **that the representative** of Turkey refers to me as the Greek Cypriot **representative**, and **not** as the representative **of** Cyprus, as **you** yourself introduced me, forces me to **do** so. I would very much appreciate it,

(Mr. Kakouris, Cyprus)

Mr. Chairman, if the representative of Turkey kindly recognised this fact, which I trust will be conveyed to him through you.

The CHAIRMAN: I would like to request **the** representative of Turkey to keep this in mind. I call on the representative of Turkey, to continue his statement.

Mr. ALPMAN (Turkey) : The First Committee is a serious forum and should be spared this **kind** of malicious playing around with legal concepts, principles and false analogies, designed to confuse and deceive those who might not be fully familiar with the facts on Cyprus.

I need hardly remind the Committee that the Greek Cypriots violated the Constitution of the Republic of Cyprus in 1963 by forcibly removing the Turkish Cypriots, co-founders of the Cypriot State, **from** the Government and administration of that country. Since then, they have been in violation not only **of the** Constitution of Cyprus but also of the international treaties associated with the creation of the Republic of Cyprus in 1960. They have also grossly violated the human rights **of** the Turkish Cypriots by uprooting thousands of them, destroying their livelihood, restricting their movements and, yes, often massacring them indiscriminately. There are, I am sorry to have to remind the Committee, a number of **mass** graves in Cyprus, attesting to the atrocities committed against this peaceful people. Their ordeal at the hands of the Greek Cypriots lasted 11 long years, and not even the presence of the United Nations Peace-Keeping Force in Cyprus (**UNFICYP**), which was stationed in that country in 1964 to protect the embattled Turkish Cypriots, could prevent the Greek Cypriots from systematically **carrying** out their plans for driving out **or** exterminating this community.

If there is a Turkish military presence in the **island** today, it is to protect the lives and the **existence** of the Turkish Cypriots and their small State from the

(Mr. Alpman, Turkey)

dire fate that the **Greek** Cypriots have in **store** for them, and which they have never bothered to **disguise**. Furthermore, Turkey was compelled to intervene in Cyprus, as everyone **knows**, to prevent prevent the island from **being annexed** to **Greece** following **the** blood-bath that was unleashed in the island on 15 July 1974 by **Greece** and their **Greek** Cypriot collaborators. This **intervention** was legally and politically **justified**, and the attempt to draw ludicrous analogies with Kuwait is contemptible and unworthy of a reply on my part.

The time **has** come for the **Greek Cypriots**, who have a long and dark history of being **wolves**, to stop masquerading as innocent lambs in this Committee. It **is** not very convincing.

M r . (Cyprus) The representative of Turkey began by using the phrase "**usual distortions**". I think he has adequately shown to the highest degree how he can distort the facts to the fullest.

The First Committee is a serious forum. International security is a serious **matter**. **Facts** are **facts**. An invasion did **occur**, and occupation is continuing. **Invasion** in the **summer** of 1974 was an act of blatant aggression, and the use of force by Turkey was contrary to both the Charter and the **norms** of international law. Turkey's actions can in no way be cloaked **in** the way that it tries to portray them. Furthermore, successive General Assembly resolutions, as well as numerous binding Security Council resolutions have recognised as much, and they have demanded the withdrawal of the Turkish occupation **forces**. Those are facts.

(Mr. Kakouris, Cyprus)

Let ~~me~~ point out to ~~my~~ colleague from Turkey that if he goes to the second floor ~~and~~ walks ~~from the~~ Security Council Chamber towards the Delegates' Lounge he ~~will see~~ many gifts that various countries have donated to the United Nations and that in one way or ~~another~~ embody the principles ~~and~~ purposes of the Charter. One of ~~these~~ is a replica of the oldest known peace treaty, concluded in 1269 B.C. The caption next to it states that this peace treaty, regarded as being of ~~unique~~ significance in the history of ~~international relations~~, has ~~among~~ its central themes ~~lasting~~ peace, territorial integrity and non-aggression.

Cyprus ~~fully~~ subscribes to ~~those~~ principles and values, Turkey, on the other hand, through its invasion in 1974 and through its continued occupation has shown the contrary position.

It may ~~be~~ of interest for ~~members~~ of the Committee to note that the gift in question ~~was donated~~ by Turkey.

~~Mr. STEPHANOU~~ (Moment, when the First Committee is taking action on matters of international security ~~and~~ when the Security Council is meeting at the highest level, that of Foreign Ministers, to take action on a blatant breach of ~~international~~ peace and security, namely Iraq's brutal invasion and ~~occupation of an independent Member~~ State of the United Nations, the representative of Turkey decided to challenge the very existence of the Republic of Cyprus, another independent Member State of the United Nations, a part of whose territory is still occupied by Turkey after the brutal invasion of 1974. Facts are always facts, ~~and~~ they cannot be altered.

As to the ~~mention of the~~ name of my country by the representative of Turkey, I must note that Greece has not invaded ~~any~~ country or threatened its territorial integrity,

(Mr. Stephanou, Greece)

As to the small State the representative of Turkey admits his country is protecting, let me remind him that Turkey is the only State in the world to recognize it. All others condemn it.

Mr. ALPMAN (Turkey): My country is indeed proud of having donated the replica of this historic treaty to the United Nations.

I shall not take up more of the Committee's time by prolonging the debate. The recent history of Cyprus, going back to 1963, is well known, and all fair-minded observers know who the oppressors are and who the victims are. The conflict did not start in 1974.

Mr. KAKOURIS (Cyprus): I echo the statement made by the representative of Greece: the small supposed State to which Turkey refers has not been recognized, and is not recognized, by any State other than Turkey. Its proclamation was condemned by Security Council resolutions and was declared null and void.

The meeting rose at 6.05 p.m.